FILED  
Court of Appeals  
Division II  
State of Washington  
8/24/2023 3:11 PM

FILED  
SUPREME COURT  
STATE OF WASHINGTON  
8/25/2023  
BY ERIN L. LENNON  
CLERK

No. 56202-2-II

I02307-3

IN THE SUPREME COURT  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

---

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

v.

DAVID BOGDANOV, Petitioner

---

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT  
OF CLARK COUNTY

THE HONORABLE JUDGE DAVID E. GREGERSON

---

PETITION FOR REVIEW

---

Marie J. Trombley, WSBA 41410  
PO Box 829  
Graham, WA  
253-445-7920

## I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner David Bogdanov, the appellant below, asks the Court to review the decision of Division II of the Court of Appeals referred to in Section II below.

## II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

David Bogdanov seeks review of the Court of Appeals published opinion entered on July 25, 2023. A copy of the opinion is attached as an appendix.

## III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

A. The Court of Appeals determined it is enough for a trial court to provide a jury instruction on justifiable homicide which included only a part of RCW 9A.16.050(1) and held an instruction on RCW 9A.16.050(2) to be redundant. This Court should accept review because the precedent the Court relied on does not apply to the facts of this case and the change to the jury instruction which was given did not conform to the statute or WPIC recommendations. It relieved the State of the burden of

proving the force used was justifiable and denied Bogdanov of a right to present a complete defense.

B. A defendant has a compelling interest in having his guilt or innocence determined by a jury which is both impartial and free from coercion. Where the trial court is made aware that one juror is “refusing to deliberate” and other jurors wanted that juror replaced, is it an abuse of discretion because it is unduly coercive for the court to instruct the jury to continue its deliberations?

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On the evening of June 5, 2019, and into the following morning, David Bogdanov (“Bogdanov”) and two of his brothers spent the evening drinking alcohol. Close to 3 a.m. they left to find a bar. Bogdanov and one brother went out to their van and waited for the third brother. As he sat in his brother’s van, Bogdanov noticed a young woman walking across the street by herself. RP 1486-87. He approached her to see if she needed help. She

declined, but after chatting, accepted his jacket, a bottle of vodka, and Bogdanov's Snapchat information. RP 1488-89. Unbeknownst to Bogdanov, N.K. was a 17-year-old transgender transient. RP 670, 673.

After the social encounter, N.K. went to a friend's apartment and either smoked or injected herself with methamphetamines. RP 972, 976, 986-988. A few hours later, N.K. arranged to meet Bogdanov via Snapchat. RP 1490-91. She was under the influence of methamphetamines when she left the apartment. RP 972, 985.

Bogdanov picked her up in his brother's van and they returned to his apartment. They drank beer and talked for about 20 minutes. RP 1491-92. Bogdanov's brother then drove them to another family member's home, where Bogdanov had parked his own car, an Audi. RP 1494-95.



Bogdanov went into the house to use the bathroom. RP 1496. When he returned to the Audi, he found N.K. in the backseat, smoking meth. RP 1496. He did not complain about the drugs because he hoped they might have a sexual encounter. RP 1498.

Bogdanov regularly carried a permitted concealed gun. RP 1012, 1500. He told N.K. he had a carry permit "so that she doesn't freak out or anything." RP 1500. He removed the gun, wedged it between the center console and the driver's seat. At N.K.'s invitation he got into the backseat with her. RP 1498-1500.

N.K. engaged in oral sex with Bogdanov. Bogdanov soon became aware N.K. was anatomically male. RP 1508-09. Stunned, he pushed her from him, yelled for her to get out of his car, and called her disgusting. RP 1510.

N.K. lunged at Bogdanov and slapped him in the face. RP 1510. He shoved her, and repeatedly told her to get out. She kicked at him and he pushed her feet down.

RP 1510-11. She jumped toward the center console, reaching for the loaded gun and got it onto the passenger seat. RP 1511,1521.

Bogdanov thought, "I just was deceived by this person into - - into oral sex and this person is high on meth. She's jumping for my gun...And all I can think is 'oh my God, I'm going to get shot right now. This person is crazy.'" RP 1511.

Afraid of being shot, Bogdanov tried to restrain her. She elbowed him in the face, scratched at his eyes, hit him and kicked him. RP 1512-1515. He yelled for her stop. He intended to keep the gun away from her and to open the car door wide enough to push her out into the road. RP 1515. He grabbed her collar with one hand and yanked her back, while using his other hand to keep her away from the gun. RP 1512. As they struggled, his grip slipped from her windbreaker.

I couldn't get a hold of her – couldn't stop her. And then in the passenger seat – the front passenger seat, in the rear pocket was hanging out my phone cord- my charging cable. And in that struggle I – I grabbed that cable and put it around her so I could hold onto it and pulled her back like that hold and hold her- hold her from going- keep going forward for the gun.

RP 1512-1513.

He kept the cord around her neck for 30-45 seconds. RP 1514. She stopped fighting and he thought she had passed out, "Like I've seen on TV in fighting sports- people get choked out and they just go to sleep for a little bit." RP 1515. He secured the gun in the trunk of the car, and when he returned, he saw she had not awakened. RP 1515, 1517. He panicked because she had stopped breathing. RP 1517-18. He drove to Larch Mountain, removed her body from the car, and pushed her down a hill. RP 1519.

Four days later, N.K.'s mother reported N.K. was missing. RP 676, 678. Six months later N.K.'s body was discovered. RP 1071.

Bogdanov flew to Ukraine on the night of June 6, 2019 and returned to the United States on July 15, 2019. RP 1439;1519-20, 1551.

On December 17, 2019, police arrested Bogdanov. CP 1. Clark County prosecutors charged him by second amended information with murder in the second degree and malicious harassment. CP 183.

#### JURY INSTRUCTIONS

Over defense objection, the trial court refused to give the full Washington Pattern Jury Instructions 16.02 for justifiable homicide and WPIC 16.03 justifiable homicide- resistance to a felony. The court instructed the jury on the meaning of great personal injury but denied the defense instruction on assault first degree. CP 298;RP 1598.

The court instructed the jury:

It is a defense to the charge of murder that the homicide was justifiable as defined in this instruction.

Homicide is justifiable when

- (1) The slayer reasonably believed that the person slain intended to inflict death or great personal injury;
- (2) The slayer reasonably believed that there was imminent danger of such harm being accomplished; and
- (3) The slayer employed such force and means as a reasonably prudent person would use under the same or similar conditions as they reasonably appeared to the slayer, taking into consideration all the facts and circumstances as they appeared to him at the time of and prior to the incident.

The State has the burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt that the homicide was not justifiable. If you find that the State has not proved the absence of this defense beyond a reasonable doubt, it will be your duty to return a verdict of not guilty.

CP 297.

#### JURY DELIBERATIONS

After excusing a juror who had taken ill, the jury began deliberating around 4:15pm on August 25th. See *State v. Bogdanov, Slip Op.* at \*8. The following morning, deliberations continued, and within the first 90 minutes

the jury submitted two questions to the court: the first on the difference between premeditation and intent, and the second, about a concern over the jury's ability to reach a verdict. *Id.*

Shortly after 1:45 p.m., the jury provided another note to the court:

We have a concern with a juror; we believe she is unable to make a decision based on the facts. While deliberating she is unable to express the reasoning for her position and refuses to.

On the upper left-hand side of the note was the following:



The image shows a handwritten note with several lines of text. The text is mostly illegible due to redaction lines and blurring. Some words like "JURY" and "PRESIDING" are faintly visible. The note is written on a piece of paper with a date stamp in the top right corner.

CP 280; RP 1838.

The court seemed to think the presiding juror said the jury had reached a verdict on one count, but not the other. There was no indication which count had been decided. RP 1830, 1832. The parties agreed to question

the presiding juror on the possibility of reaching a verdict.

RP 1832.

The presiding juror told the court the jury did *not* believe they could reach a verdict on the other count “with the current jury we have.” RP 1832. The court directed the presiding juror to fill out the form for one verdict on which they had agreed. RP 1833;1838.

Twelve minutes later, at 2:03 p.m., the presiding juror submitted another note:

Can we replace a juror (1) and call in an alternate, if the current juror is unable to make decisions on the factual evidence and is unwilling to deliberate further? We feel it is a personal bias, with this (1) current juror. She is refusing to continue to discuss her views.

CP 281; RP 1838.

The court heard argument from the parties: the State advocated for instructing the jury on their duty to deliberate. RP 1839-1840. Bogdanov’s counsel objected saying it was not juror misconduct simply because the

juror had already made up his or her mind. RP 1840.

Defense counsel asked for a mistrial. RP 1843.

Over defense objection, the court denied the mistrial motion, recalled the jury, and re-read the instruction regarding the duty to discuss and deliberate. RP 1847-48.

The following morning the jury reached a verdict, finding Bogdanov guilty on both counts. RP 1855; CP 31-311. The court imposed the top of the standard range sentence of 234 months. CP 325. Bogdanov appealed. CP 336.

The Court of Appeals affirmed. Despite the omission of any reference to “felony” as part of the standard self-defense instruction, the Court relied on *Brightman* and *Brown*, to hold that under the facts of this case WPIC 16.03 was repetitious of WPIC 16.02 and therefore was unnecessary. Op. at \*13.

The Court also held the trial court properly instructed the jury to return to deliberate after receiving



the second note the jury could not reach a verdict because of one juror, and asking to have that juror replaced. Op. at \*22.

## V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

### A. The Incomplete WPIC 16.02 Jury Instruction Coupled With A Refusal To Provide a WPIC 16.03 Instruction Was Error Requiring Reversal.

A claim of instructional error is reviewed de novo.

Where a claim of instructional error is based on a ruling of law, the error is reviewed de novo. *State v. Sublett*, 176 Wn.2d 58, 78, 292 P.3d 715 (2015).

RCW 9A.16.050(1) and (2) provide that homicide is justifiable when committed

(1) in the lawful defense of the slayer...when there is reasonable ground to apprehend a design on the part of the person slain **to commit a felony or to do some great personal injury** to the slayer...and there is imminent danger of such design being accomplished; or

(2) in **the actual resistance of an attempt to commit a felony upon the slayer**, in his or her

presence, or upon or in a dwelling, or other place of abode, in which he or she is.

### The Washington Criminal Pattern Jury Instructions

WPIC 16.02 and 16.03 follow the statutory elements<sup>1,2</sup>.

---

<sup>1</sup> WPIC 16.02: It is a defense to a charge of [murder] [manslaughter] that the homicide was justifiable as defined in this instruction.

Homicide is justifiable when committed in the lawful defense of [the slayer] [the slayer's [husband] [wife] [registered domestic partner] [parent] [child] [brother] [sister]] [any person in the slayer's presence or company] when:

(1) the slayer reasonably believed that the person slain [or others whom the defendant reasonably believed were acting in concert with the person slain] **intended [to commit a felony] [to inflict death or great personal injury]**; (2) the slayer reasonably believed that there was imminent danger of such harm being accomplished; and (3) the slayer employed such force and means as a reasonably prudent person would use under the facts and circumstances as they appeared to [him] [her], at the time of [and prior to] the incident.

<sup>2</sup> WPIC 16.03: It is a defense to a charge of [murder] [manslaughter] that the homicide was justifiable as defined in this instruction.

Homicide is justifiable **when committed in the actual resistance of an attempt to commit a felony** [upon the slayer] [in the presence of the slayer] [or] [upon or in a

Both instructions allow for an individual to resist another appearing to intend to commit a felony and the actual resistance of an attempt to commit a felony. The distinction by statute is the right to defend oneself from a felony as it occurs (RCW 9A.16.050(2)) independent from the anticipation of being a victim of a felony.

The notes for the WPIC 16.02 instruction specifically advise: If resistance to a felony is involved, see WPIC 16.03(Justifiable Homicide- Resistance to Felony.)

The notes for WPIC 16.03 provide:

This instruction ***should be given*** in homicide cases in which there is evidence to support a claim that the defendant ***was acting in resistance to the***

---

dwelling or other place of abode in which the slayer is present].

The slayer may employ such force and means as a reasonably prudent person would use under the same or similar conditions as they reasonably appeared to the slayer, taking into consideration all the facts and circumstances as they appeared to [him] [her] at the time [and prior to] the incident. (Emphasis added).

***commission of a felony*** upon the defendant...If self-defense against a felony is involved see WPIC 16.02. (Emphasis added).

Here, the instruction given by the trial court and affirmed by the Court of Appeals included no mention of a felony being intended or attempted to be perpetrated by the slain individual. Contrary to the statute and the WPICs, the court found it was enough to tell the jury the person slain intended to inflict death or great personal injury. RP 1605.

Interpreting a jury instruction which ignores a part of the statute is error and deprives a defendant of a fair trial. Courts are admonished to give each word of a statute with meaning. *State v. Roggenkamp*, 153 Wn.2d 614, 624, 106 P.3d 196 (2005). Additionally, statutory interpretation instructs the court to construe a statute “to give effect to all the language used and avoid a construction that would render a portion of a statute

meaningless or superfluous.” *Ford Motor Co. v. City of Seattle*, 160 Wn.2d 32, 41, 156 P.3d 185 (2007).

The problem with affirming the omission of the justification of defense against a felony in the modified instruction, is that it ignores RCW 9A.16.050(1) and renders RCW 9A.16.050(2) meaningless.

In its opinion, the Court of Appeals relied on *State v. Brenner*, 53 Wn.App.367, 768 P.2d 509 (1989), *State v. Boisselle*, 3 Wn.App.2d 266, 415 P.3d 621(2018)(rev’d on other grounds, 194 Wn.2d 1, 448 P.3d 19 (2019); *State v. Brown*, 21 Wn.App.2d 541, 506 P.3d 1258(2022) and *State v. Brightman*, 155 Wn.2d 506, 519, 122 P.3d 150 (2005).

In *Brightman* the Court recognized that an instruction on justifiable homicide to resist a felony in progress (RCW 9A.16.050(2)) was unwarranted where *the defendant was in fact not afraid of the victim* during a struggle over a small amount of money. *State v.*

*Brightman*, 105 Wn.2d at 518-19. The Court held that RCW 9A.16.050(1) concerns a reasonable fear that the person slain is about to commit a felony or inflict great bodily injury, and RCW 9A.16.050(2) “addresses situations in which a felony or attempted felony is already in progress. *Id.* at 521.

Here, there was no question the attempted felony was already in progress when Bogdanov fought back and that he was terrified N.K. was going to shoot him.

In *State v. Brown*, the court *provided both* WPIC 16.02 and 16.03 instructions to the jury. *State v. Brown*, 21 Wn.App.2d at 562. Brown told police she retrieved her gun from the car, removed it from the holster and shot her friend, *even though* she did not believe her friend was trying to hurt her. The issue was whether WPIC 16.03 required the slayer to be in fear of great personal injury before using deadly force. *State v. Brown*, 21 Wn.App. at 548.

*Brown* is inapplicable to Bogdanov because here not only was WPIC 16.03 not given, but WPIC 16.02 was modified to remove the word “felony”. Additionally, there was no question Bogdanov was in fear of N.K.

In *Brenner*, the Court affirmed the denial of WPIC 16.03. *State v. Brenner*, 53 Wn.App. at 376. The Court conflated the justifiable homicide defense applying to resisting a felony as requiring fear of death or great personal injury. The statute (RCW 9A.16.050(2)) does not specifically mention fear of great personal injury or death, but implies that self-defense requires this fear to take the life of another.

Again, here the question was not one of fear: the question was whether Bogdanov justifiably fought back in self defense as N.K. continually grabbed for his loaded gun, an attempted assault first degree.

Finally, the Court cited to *State v. Boiselle*, for the proposition that WPIC 16.03 was repetitious of WPIC

16.02. Op. at \*12. The facts in that case differ markedly from Bogdanov. There, the defendant allowed an individual with serious addictions to move into his duplex. After several tense encounters, one night the individual pointed a gun at Boiselle. Boiselle left the room. Later, Boiselle saw the gun on the arm of the couch, so he walked over and took the gun. The individual stood up and walked toward Boiselle. Boiselle fired the weapon killing the man. *State v. Boiselle*, 3 Wn.App.2d at 271-272.

The court in *Boiselle* resisted defense attempts to add the WPIC 16.03 instruction because “there was no evidence presented by the defense that suggest the defendant’s act of shooting the victim was, *at the time of the shooting*, done in resistance to the commission of a felony.” *Boiselle*, 3 Wn.App.2d at 291. The court elaborated that the State “only had notice of the theory of self-defense, that is defense of the person, and the



evidence actually presented by the defense establish only that theory and no other.” *Id.* at 290.

The *Boiselle* Court cited to *Brenner*, and stated “We have previously held that such a defense [justifiable homicide in the context of felonies] applies only if the felony which was sought to be prevented threatens life or great bodily harm.” *Id.* at 291.

The facts in each of the cases relied on by the Court differ markedly from the facts in *Bogdanov*. The attempted felony, assault in the first degree, is a violent felony, threatening both his life and/or great personal injury. It was not a matter of believing N.K. intended to commit a felony (WPIC 16.02) it was defending himself against an actual attempted felony as it occurred. (WPIC 16.03). Yet even the modified self-defense jury instruction omitted any mention of defense from a felony and focused instead on whether *Bogdanov* “reasonably

believed that the person slain intended to inflict death or great personal injury.”

On the facts here, the trial court erred in denying a complete jury instruction which conformed with the statute and the facts adduced at trial. Instructions must make manifestly apparent the law to the average juror. Where the instruction does not accurately state the law of self-defense, it misleads the jury. *State v. Irons*, 101 Wn.App.544, 559, 4P.3d 174 (2000).

An error affecting a defendant’s self-defense claim is constitutional and requires reversal unless it is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Arth*, 121 Wn.App.205, 213, 87 P.3d 1206 (2004). This matter bears review as it impacts the constitutional right to a fair trial, in which a defendant may bring forth a full defense for the crime of which he has been accused. RAP 13.4(b)(3).

B. The Trial Court Violated Bogdanov's Right To A Fair Trial When It Instructed Jurors To Continue Deliberating After They Reported Being Deadlocked.

"The right of a jury to hang is an extremely important and useful one. '[A]s history reminds us, a succession of juries may legitimately fail to agree until, at long last, the prosecution gives up. But such juries, perhaps more courageous than any other, have performed their useful, vital functions in our system. This is the kind of independence which should be encouraged. It is in this independence that liberty is secured.'" *On Instructing Deadlocked Juries*, 78 Yale L.J. 100, 142 (1968)(citing to the dissent *Huffman v. United States*, 297 F.2d 754, 759 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1962).

Criminal defendants are guaranteed the right to a unanimous verdict. Art. I, §21, §22. Each juror must participate, but there are "no requirements as to how

much or how long a juror must speak, listen, or deliberate before forming an opinion.” *State v. Morfin*, 171 Wn.App.1, 10, 287 P.3d 600 (2012). “After jury deliberations have begun, the court shall not instruct the jury in such a way as to suggest the need for agreement, the consequences of no agreement, or the length of time a jury will be required to deliberate.” CrR 6.15(f)(2).

Where a jury has difficulty reaching a unanimous verdict because of a lone dissenter, it may be indicative that the case was not “open and shut” rather than that the dissenter is not inclined to deliberate. *See State v. Depaz*, 165 Wn.2d 842, 204 P.3d 217 (2009). The court walks a fine line in evaluating whether a juror is refusing to follow the law, or she has made a decision based on her perception of the facts. *State v. Elmore*, 155 Wn.2d 758, 770, 123 P.3d 72 (2005).

*Elmore* provides the framework for decision making where serial notes from the jury indicate that a particular individual juror is refusing to deliberate. *Id.* at 768-69.

The first step is to (1) reinstruct the jury on their duty to deliberate. If reinstruction is ineffective, the court should (2) further ask about the process of deliberations and the conduct of jurors. If there is failure to resolve the issue, (3) the court may engage in further inquiry of jurors, the accused, and some or all other jury members.

*Elmore*, 155 Wn.2d at 774.

When and whether to declare a mistrial is within the trial court's broad discretion and reviewed under that standard. *State v. Barnes*, 85 Wn.App. 638, 656, 932 P.2d 669 (1997).

In this case, the jury sent three notes to the court about its inability to reach a verdict, each note becoming more descriptive of the problem. The first note "We have received a message from the presiding juror that they

were concerned about the ability to reach a verdict.” RP 1815. Following *Elmore*, the court reinstructed the jury to deliberate.

The second note indicated “we” have a concern with “a” juror, who the other jurors believed was unable to make a decision on the facts. Following *Elmore*, the parties agreed to question the presiding juror on the possibility of reaching a verdict.

The presiding juror informed the court the jury did not believe it could reach a verdict on the other count with the current jury. The court directed the presiding juror to fill out the verdict for the single count which had been decided.

The jury submitted yet a third more troubling note, indicating they wanted to replace the juror because she was no longer deliberating.

Rather than make further inquiry to explore juror misconduct, per *Elmore*, the court again instructed the

jury to continue its deliberations. On the third day of deliberations, the lone juror changed her mind.

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