FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/22/2023 11:45 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 102307-3

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent v. DAVID BOGDANOV, Petitioner

FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR CLARK COUNTY CLARK COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT CAUSE NO. 22-1-02664-06 COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II CAUSE NO. 56202-2-II

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Attorneys for Respondent:

ANTHONY F. GOLIK Prosecuting Attorney Clark County, Washington

LAUREN R. BOYD, WSBA #50016 Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Clark County Prosecuting Attorney 1013 Franklin Street PO Box 5000 Vancouver WA 98666-5000 Telephone (564) 397-2261

IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

The Respondent, State of Washington, by and through
Lauren R. Boyd, Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney for Clark
County, provides the following answer pursuant to RAP 13.4(d)
to David Bogdanov's Petition for Discretionary Review.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

I. Bogdanov fails to show "a significant question of law" under either constitution as required by RAP 13.4(b)(3). As the opinion of the Court of Appeals does not raise "a significant question of law," this Court should deny discretionary review.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Facts

N.G.K. went missing on June 6, 2019. RP 674-77, 703, 719, 974, 987, 1271. She was 17 years old, 5 feet and 8 inches tall, and weighed about 110 to 130 pounds. RP 671, 1537. She was designated male at birth, but at a young age identified as female, changed her name, and began her transition in middle school. RP 677. At the time she went missing, she had been

staying with friends. RP 677-78, 955-56, 981. They last saw her in the early morning hours when she left to spend time with a man, she had met the night before. RP 677, 702, 955-58, 962, 969-71, 981-85.

That evening, the petitioner, David Bogdanov, bought a one-way ticket to Ukraine and fled the country. RP 1194-95, 1425-26, 1428. He did not return to the United States until July 15th. RP 1198, 999-1000, 1005, 1429. While in Ukraine, he arranged for someone to "get rid" of his Audi vehicle. RP 1559-60. Bogdanov was 25 years old, 6 feet and 2 inches tall, and weighed about 200 pounds. RP 1412, 1537.

Through searches of social media accounts obtained by warrants, law enforcement determined that the man N.G.K. had met when she disappeared was Bogdanov. RP 698-711. Law enforcement learned that Bogdanov had arranged to pick N.G.K. up and that his geolocation placed him in the area of her residence. RP 707-13. Looking for Bogdanov, they spoke with

two of his brothers who claimed not to know where he was. RP 715, 1417.

Law enforcement conducted a recorded interview with Bogdanov several months later. RP 722, 736-80. In that interview, Bogdanov claimed he had met N.G.K. that night and given her his coat because it was cold. RP 736-37. They later met back up and he drove her to Brush Prairie where they parted ways. RP 738-41. He claimed he did not know whether N.G.K. was alive. RP 775. Bogdanov was given a second opportunity to speak with police and maintained this story. RP 790.

On December 17, 2019, a hiker gathering foliage found N.G.K.'s remains in the remote and heavily-wooded area of Clark County called Larch Mountain, roughly an hour from Vancouver. RP 685, 688, 785, 829, 1071, 1021, 1044, 1070, 1149, 1295. She was in a steep ravine and could not be seen by the road. RP 690, 819, 822, 850, 927. Having been exposed to animals and the elements for six months, her body had become

skeletonized and her remains were scattered. RP 689, 811, 830, 833-34, 847-49, 872, 1297-1301. Among the remains collected from the scene were teeth, numerous bones, her skull, a metal watch and various other jewelry items, a green jacket, and a cell phone charging cord. RP 837-42, 872. A combination of DNA, dental records, and belongings found at the scene were used to positively identify her remains. RP 851-55, 1019-21, 1044, 1121, 1146, 1149, 1344-45, 1360.

Significantly, the cell phone charging cord found at the scene was tied into a loop with hair extensions tangled in the knot. RP 841, 878-79, 1213, 1219-21, 1243, 1403, 1360-61. Further tangled into the hair was a piece of a necklace and a hyoid bone, the bone that sits at the top of the voice box in the neck. RP 1051, 1120-21, 1360-61. Based on the hair inside of the knot of the cord, and the entanglement with a necklace and a hyoid bone, the Medical Examiner determined that N.G.K. died by strangulation and that this cord was the ligature. RP 1052-53, 1405.

Cell tower records corroborate the conclusion that Bogdanov killed N.G.K. and disposed of her body. They established that on June 6th, 2019, Bogdanov's phone travelled from downtown Vancouver where he had told police he met N.G.K., to Brush Prairie where he had told police he had left N.G.K., and then to Larch Mountain where N.G.K.'s body was found. RP 785, 1336-42, 1420-24.

II. The Trial and Procedural History

Bogdanov was charged by second amended information with second-degree murder and malicious harassment. CP 183-84. The case proceeded to trial on August 16, 2021. RP 378; CP 345. The State presented testimony from 36 witnesses and admitted 244 exhibits, including physical evidence of items found with N.G.K., the iPhone charging cord used to strangle her, two recordings of Bogdanov's interviews with police, cell site data, calls that Bogdanov made from jail, warrant returns for cell phone and social media records, Bogdanov's travel records, drone footage of the remote area where N.G.K. was

found, and numerous photographs. CP 344-45, 366, 370-79. Bogdanov testified in his own defense.

Bogdanov claimed, contrary to his original discussions with law enforcement, that he killed N.G.K. accidentally and in self-defense. He testified that he met N.G.K. walking on the street at night when he gave her his jacket, a bottle of vodka, and his Snapchat name before parting ways. RP 1486-90. He had been with two of his brothers that night—both of whom conveniently remembered very little detail during their testimony. RP 909-34, 939-47, 1486. N.G.K. then added him on Snapchat and they arranged for him to pick her up. RP 1490-91. She arrived wearing the jacket later found among her remains on Larch Mountain and did not appear to be sober. RP 1491-92. They drove to his brother's apartment where they had a few beers and then drove out to Brush Prairie to get Bogdanov's Audi. RP 1492-93.

Bogdanov testified that N.G.K. got into the back seat of

the Audi and started smoking meth. RP 1497. He removed his handgun and wedged it between the center console and the driver's seat by "pulling the seat back and just wedg[ing] it in there" and then got into the back seat with N.G.K. RP 1498-1500. They started kissing, he exposed his penis, and she began giving him oral sex. RP 1507-09. He then reached down her pants and at that point learned that N.G.K. was a transgender girl. RP 1509.

Bogdanov claimed that he "freaked out" and pushed her back toward the passenger-side door. RP 1510. He was yelling at her and calling her a "disgusting piece of shit" while trying to pull his pants back up and tell her to get out of his car. RP 1510, 1539-40. Bogdanov said that she lunged at him, so he pushed her again and she hit the door. RP 1510, 1542. He then described a struggle where N.G.K. was apparently both attacking him and reaching for his gun at the same time. RP 1511-14. Bogdanov claimed he was afraid he would be killed, and he could not subdue her, even with their size difference, so

he grabbed his cell phone cord, which had been previously tied into a loop, and put it around her chest to pull her back from reaching for the gun but it slipped around her throat, and she passed out. RP 1511-16, 1541-43. He testified that the cord was never fully tied around N.G.K.'s neck. RP 1543. When he let go, she was not breathing. RP 1516. He was afraid so he disposed of her body on Larch Mountain by pushing her down the hill, throwing the cord out with her, immediately leaving on a one-way ticket for Ukraine, and having someone get rid of his car. RP 1517-19, 1545, 1550, 1559. Bogdanov claims that after the fight, he realized that the gun was no longer wedged between the seats but was lying on top of a seat indicating that N.G.K. had almost had control of the gun at some point during the struggle. RP 1521.

Bogdanov's testimony was refuted by the evidence that the cord was still wrapped around N.G.K.'s neck when he disposed of her body and the testimony by the Medical

Examiner that loss of consciousness precedes death by a minute or two in most people. RP 1054, 1057, 1063.¹

The State additionally presented evidence of Bogdanov's malicious intent to kill N.G.K. because of her gender or sexual orientation. Evidence included homophobic statements that he had made to his girlfriend and transphobic statements that he made to family members on jail calls. RP 1011-12, 1092-93; 1103-04; 1129-30; 1132.

Bogdanov proposed jury instructions based on WPIC 16.02 and WPIC 16.03, which outline self-defense in relation to a reasonable apprehension of great personal injury and self-defense in the actual resistance to an attempt to commit a felony upon the slayer, respectively. *See* RP 1586-1606. The trial court declined to give an instruction based on WPIC 16.03. RP 1603-

¹ Not to mention the remainder of the State's evidence, the general inconsistencies in his stories, the size and age difference between himself and N.G.K., and the inconsistencies between the testimony of himself and his brothers.

06. It reasoned that the instruction would be subsumed by the instruction being given based on WPIC 16.02. RP 1602.

Shortly after jury deliberations began, the trial court was forced to replace a juror due to illness, so the jury was reconstituted and instructed to begin deliberations anew. RP 1805-06; CP 367. Roughly three hours into the deliberations of the newly-constituted jury, the jury indicated that they were concerned about coming to a unanimous decision. CP 367. In response to a question regarding premeditation, the trial court gave the jury an additional instruction and sent the jury back to deliberate. RP 1829, CP 386. An additional three hours later, the jury indicated they had reached a verdict on one count but were unable to agree on the second count "with the current jury" they had. Because they had not filled out the verdict forms, the jury was sent back to process the paperwork. RP 1832-34; CP 368. Shortly after, the jurors submitted two notes to the court indicating a concern that one of the jurors was

refusing to deliberate. CP 281-82, 368.² Over the objection of defense counsel, the court reinstructed the jury on their duty to deliberate. RP 1847; CP 368.

After approximately three more hours of deliberation, the jury returned guilty verdicts for both second-degree murder and malicious harassment. RP 1856; CP 310-11. All in all, they deliberated for approximately 10 hours. RP 367-69. Bogdanov was sentenced to 234 months in total confinement. RP 1892; CP 325. Division II of the Court of Appeals affirmed

and

² These notes read

[&]quot;We have a concern with a juror; we believe she is unable to make a decision based on the facts. While deliberating, she is unable to express the reasoning for her position and refused to."

[&]quot;Can we replace a juror and call in an alternate, if the current juror is unable to make decisions on factual evidence and is unwilling to deliberate further. We feel it is a personal bias, with this current juror. She is refusing to continue to discuss her views."

Bogdanov's convictions in a published opinion. *State v. Bogdanov*, -- Wn. App. 2d ---, 532 P.3d 1035 (2023).

ARGUMENT

Bogdanov asks this Court to accept discretionary review of two issues decided by the Court of Appeals: the self-defense instruction given to the jury and the trial court's procedure when faced with the possibility that a juror was refusing to deliberate. This Court should decline review as none of the considerations present in RAP 13.4(b) apply here.

RAP 13.4(b) provides

[a] petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Preliminarily, Bogdanov makes no attempt to argue, or even to identify, the basis under which this Court should accept

review the second issue. He argues only the merits of his claim without attempting to show any conflict with another decision, significant question of law, or substantial public interest. As such, this Court should deny review of Bogdanov's claim that the trial court proceeded incorrectly when faced with the possibility that a juror was refusing to deliberate.

Similarly, Bogdanov fails to adequately address or to show that the self-defense instruction given to the jury in this case deserves review. Regarding this issue, Bodganov cites to RAP 13.4(b)(3) and claims only that "[t]his matter bears review as it impacts the constitutional right to a fair trial, in which a defendant may bring forth a full defense for the crime of which he has been accused." Br. of Pet. at 21. Bogdanov relies on authority showing that errors in self-defense instructions are constitutional and briefs his objections to the opinion of the Court of Appeals, but he makes no attempt to argue that this issue presents a "significant question of law" as required by RAP 13.4(b)(3). Br. of Pet. at 12-21. Contrary to Bogdanov's

claim, this issue does not present a "significant question of law." Indeed, the issue has already been settled by this Court in *State v. Brightman*, which the Court of Appeals found controlling. 155 Wn.2d 506, 112 P.3d 150 (2005); *Bogdanov*, 532 P.3d. at 1047. This Court should thus deny Bogdanov's request for review.

CONCLUSION

This Court should deny Bogdanov's petition for discretionary review.

This document contains 2,313 words based on the word count calculation of the word processing software used to prepare this response, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17(b). Additionally, I certify that all text appears in 14-point serif font equivalent to Times New Roman. RAP 18.17(a)(2).